S224853

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JENNIFER AUGUSTUS et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

ABM SECURITY SERVICES, INC.,

Defendant and Appellant.

2d Civil Nos. B243788 & B247392

(Los Angeles County Super. Ct. Nos. BC336416, BC345918, CG5444421)

> SUPREME COURT one Control

> > JUN 3 0 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One

Service on Attorney General and District Attorney [Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209; See CRC, Rule 29(b)]

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- (1) Do Labor Code § 226.7, and Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) wage order No. 4-2001 require that employees be relieved of all duties during rest breaks?
- (2) Are security guards who remain on call during rest breaks performing work during that time under the analysis of *Mendiola v. CPS Security Solutions*, *Inc.* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 833?

INTRODUCTION

IWC Wage Order 4 requires employers to provide their employees with two 10-minute rest periods per eight-hour shift. Labor Code section 226.7, subd. (b), prohibits employers from requiring employees to work during those rest breaks. Plaintiff Jennifer Augustus, representing a class of security guards employed by defendant ABM Security Services, Inc., sued ABM for violating section 226.7 by making its guards work while on their rest breaks.

Based on undisputed evidence that ABM did not relieve its guards of all duty during their rest breaks, the trial court granted summary judgment for the plaintiffs. The Court of Appeal reversed, but it did not find that there were any disputed issues of fact. Rather, it held that section 226.7 does not require employers to relieve their employees of all duty during rest breaks, and that ABM's guards were not actually "working" during their breaks because they were "simply on call."

Both aspects of the Court of Appeal's construction of section 226.7 are untenable. The failure to apply the relieved-of-all-duty standard is contrary to the text and purpose of the statute, as well as the terms and structure of the Wage Order. By definition, a rest break is a respite from labor. Therefore, rest breaks and meal breaks must be duty free.

The IWC has allowed employers and employees to agree to on-duty meal breaks in limited circumstances. But no similar provision authorizes on-duty rest breaks. Instead, employers are required to apply to the DLSE for an exemption if providing off-duty rest breaks would be a hardship. ABM certainly knew of the exemption process, having itself utilized the exemption for one year during the class period.

Section 226.7 confirms that rest breaks must be duty free, by expressly forbidding employers from making employees work during those breaks. When employees are required to perform a job duty, they are working — not resting.

The Court of Appeal's construction of section 226.7 cannot be squared with this Court's earlier decisions construing that statute, *Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094 ("*Murphy*") and *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004 ("*Brinker*").

Murphy describes rest breaks as a time when the employee is "free from employer control." (Id., 40 Cal.4th at p. 1113.) Similarly, Brinker holds that section 226.7 requires that off-duty meal breaks be duty-free time when the employer relinquishes control over the employee. (Brinker, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 1038, 1040-1041.)

The Court of Appeal sought to distinguish *Brinker* as a case that dealt only with an employer's meal-break obligations. But section 226.7 forbids employees from working during either meal breaks or rest breaks. That prohibition must apply with equal force to both types of breaks unless the word "work" in the statute means different things depending on the type of break at issue. That would be an exceedingly odd way to construe the statute, but it is the central pillar of the Court of Appeal's holding.

The relieved-of-all-duty standard is not only integral to the work-free mandate for rest breaks established by the Wage Order and section 226.7, it is also a clear, easily administered rule that puts employees and employers alike on notice of their respective rights and responsibilities. This standard also protects employee welfare, which is a fundamental purpose of section 226.7. Any other standard would be less clear, harder to administer, and more easily subject to abuse.

The Court of Appeal's conclusion that ABM guards were not working during their rest breaks is belied by the record. The following chart, which is taken verbatim from the opinion below, compares the guards' duties while they are working and while they are on break.

Principal job duties of ABM security guard while on duty

"The primary responsibility of Security at a guarded facility is to provide an immediate and correct response to emergency/life safety situations (i.e. fire, medical emergency, bomb threat, elevator entrapments, earthquakes, etc.) In addition, the Security officers must provide physical security for the building, its tenants and their employees. The security officer can accomplish this task by observing and reporting all unusual activities. In essence, the officer is the eyes and ears of the Building Management." (Augustus v. ABM Security Services, Inc. (2014) 182 Cal.Rptr.3d 679-680.)

ABM guard responsibilities during rest breaks

"ABM admitted it requires its security guards to keep their radios and pagers on during rest breaks, to remain vigilant, and to respond when needs arise, such as when a tenant wishes to be escorted to the parking lot, a building manager must be notified of a mechanical problem, or an emergency situation occurs." (Augustus v. ABM Security Services, Inc., 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 680.)

Despite the clear overlap between what the guards were required to do while on duty and while on break, the Court of Appeal held that the guards were not working during rest breaks. Instead, the court concluded that the guards were merely "on-call." It explained, "On-call status is a state of being, not an action. But section 226.7 prohibits only the action, not the status. In other words, it prohibits only working during a rest break, not remaining available to work." (Augustus, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 685.)

The court's analysis therefore holds that (a) the test for what constitutes compensable work under the Wage Order is broader than the prohibition on "work" in section 226.7, and (b) that ABM guards were not actually working while on rest breaks, they were simply remaining available to return to work.

Both aspects of the court's holding are wrong. This Court held in *Brinker* that compliance with section 226.7 required employers to relieve their employees of all duty and to relinquish control over how they spent their time. (*Id.*, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 1038, 1040-1041.) This test is virtually identical to the test for whether time is compensable.

And in *Mendiola*, this Court held that on-call security guards were "engaged to wait" — that is, their job was to wait for something to happen and to respond to it. (*Id.*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 842, n. 10.) The undisputed facts show that ABM required its guards to continue to do that job while they were taking rest breaks. They were not simply on call; they were actively serving as the building management's eyes and ears — which is why, in the trial court, ABM admitted that they were on duty.

In sum, the legislative mandate in section 226.7 is clear. It forbids employees from being required to work during their rest breaks. As this Court held in *Brinker*, unless employees have been relieved of all duty and their employer has relinquished control over how they spend their time, they are working. Since ABM admits that it never relieved its guards of all duty during rest breaks, it violated section 226.7.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Summary

ABM Security Services, Inc. ("ABM"), formerly d/b/a American Commercial Security Services, Inc. ("ACSS"), employs thousands of security guards in California at residential, retail, office, and industrial sites. (10JA 2965-2966.) Some sites have only one guard on duty; others have multiple guards working at the same time. (ABM's appellant's opening brief in the Court of Appeal ("AOB") at 6.)

Named plaintiffs Jennifer Augustus, Emmanuel Davis, and Delores Hall are all former ABM security guards. (AOB at 6, 7.)

In 2006, after this litigation had commenced, ABM first applied to the DLSE and obtained an exemption from California's rest-break requirements. (10JA 2821-22.) The one-year exemption applied only to its single-guard sites, and it expired in late 2007. (*Id.*) Two years later, ABM received a second exemption, but declined to use it because it did not apply to guards working the day shift. (12JA 3367; AOB at 9.)

B. Procedural Summary

1. July 2005: Augustus files her class-action complaint against ABM, which becomes the lead case in a consolidated proceeding

Augustus filed her class-action complaint against ABM on July 12, 2005. (1JA 1.) It pleaded two causes of action— a violation of Labor Code section 226.7 for failing to provide rest periods, and a violation of the unfair competition law ("UCL"), Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seq., for the same conduct. (1JA 4, 5.) Augustus alleged that ABM required its security guards to work during rest periods and that ABM had not obtained an exemption from the mandatory rest-period requirement. (1JA 2-3 [paras. 9, 10], 4 [para. 17].)

In July 2006, the trial court granted Augustus's motion to consolidate her action with two other class actions filed against ABM. (1JA 63.) A "master complaint" was then filed, which included claims against ABM for failing to provide mandated rest and meal breaks and for failing to pay wages due immediately upon an employee's discharge. (1JA 70, 79 [paras. 30-33], 80-81 [paras. 39, 40].)

2. May 2008: ABM's designated "person most qualified" testifies that the company does not relieve its employees of all duties during rest breaks

Augustus took ABM's deposition in May 2008. ABM designated its Senior Branch Manager, Fred Setayesh, as the person most qualified to testify on its behalf about all subjects designated in the deposition notice, which included the subject of rest breaks. (2JA 476 [para. 6]; AOB at 42-45.) ABM gave the following testimony through Setayesh:

Q: So it's your understanding that the security guards are taking rest breaks on an irregular basis during their shift while still conscious of their job requirements? In other words, you said they're not entirely relieved of all their job duties but they are receiving their rest breaks, is that correct?

A: I said they're not relieved from all duties, but they are

- they can take their breaks.
- Q: And that applies for rest breaks and meal breaks?

A: Correct. (2JA 504.)

Q: Previously you said that some of the duties of the security officers are performed continuously even while

taking rest breaks; correct?

A: I said they will not be relieved from all duties. (2JA 505.)

Setayesh made changes to his testimony on 14 different pages of the deposition transcript, but he left the testimony quoted above unchanged. (2JA 522-523.)

3. February 2009: Plaintiffs successfully move for class certification

Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification in June 2008, which sought certification of "rest break" and "meal break" subclasses. (IJA 101, 103.) The motion argued that all ABM security guards are subject to "a blanket policy of categorically denying them both off-duty meal breaks and duty-free rest periods." (IJA 111.) It argued that—because ABM has a uniform, company-wide policy and practice requiring all security guards to remain on duty during rest breaks—common factual and legal questions predominated over individual questions, making class certification appropriate. (IJA 124.)

The trial court granted the motion in February 2009, certifying both a meal-break subclass and rest-break subclass. The latter excluded the one-year period when ABM had an exemption from the DLSE from the rest-break requirements. (7JA 1999.)

- 4. July 2010: Plaintiffs move for summary adjudication of the rest-break cause of action, while ABM cross-moves for summary judgment
 - a. ABM argues in its summary-judgment motion that the nature of security-guard work requires that it keep its guards on duty at all times

ABM filed its own motion for summary judgment or class decertification, which was heard at the same time as plaintiffs' motion for summary adjudication. (7JA 2043.) In its motion, ABM sought to establish

that both the meal-break and rest-break violations alleged in the master complaint were without merit as a matter of law. The crux of its argument was: (a) the nature of ABM security-guard work required that ABM keep the guards on duty; (b) ABM accordingly had its guards sign on-duty meal agreements when they were hired; and (c) ABM authorized and permitted its employees to take rest breaks. (7JA 2045, 2049-2050.)

ABM's motion asserted that "[t]he nature of a security officer's job duties requires constant monitoring. The public will rightly presume they are on duty and ready to help when they are on the premises. They also must be available for unexpected emergencies" (7JA 2049.) ABM emphasized what had become its essential theme in this case: that "the nature of security work prevents guards from being relieved of all duty." (7JA 2050.)

It elaborated on that theme in the Statement of Facts, which explained: "All guards are expected to ensure the security of their properties as well as the tenants at their worksite. This includes being available should an emergency arise, such as a medical crisis or fire, or an unexpected escort be needed." (7JA 2053, emphasis added.)

ABM argued that its policy of requiring guards to take on-duty meal breaks was lawful because the nature of security work prevented guards from being relieved of all duties during meal breaks. (7JA 2056-2057.) It insisted that this is true, not only for guards who worked alone, but also at sites with multiple guards: "While security officers at multi-guard locations may not work alone, they too cannot always be relieved of all duties. For example, should an emergency arise, which is not uncommon in security work, the officer must immediately be available via radio or cell phone to tend to the crisis." (7JA 2057, emphasis added.)

"Issue 2" within ABM's separate statement supporting its motion contended that ABM was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on plaintiffs' meal-break claim "because the nature of security officer work prevents guards from being relieved of all duty during meal periods."

(8JA 2115, emphasis added.) In support of this issue, ABM listed the following undisputed facts:

- 20. When a facility is manned by just one security guard, he or she cannot desert his or her post for an extended period.
- 21. In the multi-guard situation, even though guards may often take scheduled, 30-minute off-duty breaks, they must be available, via radio or cell phone, should an emergency arise, like a tenant getting stuck in the elevator, a fight breaking out, a medical crisis, or someone slipping and falling in the hallway. (8JA 2116-2117, emphasis added.)

ABM also sought summary adjudication of the plaintiffs' rest-break claim. "Issue 5" of its separate statement said: "The undisputed material facts demonstrate that Defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Plaintiffs' first cause of action for failure to provide rest breaks according to Labor Code § 226.7 because ACSS authorized and permitted rest periods." (8JA 2126.) ABM supported its argument with a host of declarations from security guards who stated that they were allowed to take rest breaks. (7JA 2061, 2062.) But none of those guards said that they were relieved of all duties during those breaks. (*Id.*)

ABM's motion also addressed the exemptions it received from the DLSE for rest breaks. It explained that in late 2006 it obtained a one-year exemption for its single-guard sites. ABM claimed that after the exemption

expired, the replacement exemption that the DLSE offered "could not be administered" so ABM "decided to continue to provide rest breaks rather than attempt to administer the inconsistent exemption." (8JA 2128 [UMF 49].)

b. Plaintiffs move for summary adjudication of their rest-break claim, asserting that ABM does not relieve its guards of all duties during rest breaks

In July 2010, the plaintiffs moved for summary adjudication of their rest-break cause of action. (10JA 2679, 2705.) They argued that California law requires employers to relieve their workers of all duties during rest breaks, unless they obtain an exemption from the DLSE. (10JA 2692, 2693.)

Fact number 1 in the plaintiffs' separate statement in support of the motion was that "Defendant's security guard employees are not relieved of all duties at any time." (10JA 2708.) The evidentiary support for this fact came from ABM's own testimony, through Setayesh, that it had a company-wide policy and practice of not relieving its security guards of all duties during their rest breaks. (10JA 2693.)

Plaintiffs also relied on testimony from ABM's Regional Human Resources Manager, Sarah Knight. (10JA 2813, 2814, 2847.) She testified that ABM's guards are continuously on duty and are expected to interrupt their breaks in order to respond to emergencies. (10JA 2847.)

c. In its opposition, ABM concedes that it does not give its guards off-duty rest breaks

In its opposition to the plaintiffs' motion, ABM did not argue that it relieved its guards of all duties during rest breaks. Instead, it insisted that the guards were not really working during their rest breaks because it allowed them to do things they were forbidden to do while on duty. It asserted:

Such leisure activities, like reading a book and smoking, are clearly prohibited during work hours. (Additional Fact 32, Declaration of Fred Setayesh, ¶¶ 3-4). Therefore, there is no question that when an officer engages in these non-work activities, he or she is taking a break, even if his or her cell phone or pager may (in some instances) still be on.

(Additional Fact 33). (10JA 2914.)

ABM explained that it required its guards to keep their radios or pagers on during breaks so that they could respond to work-related needs that might arise:

> ... Plaintiffs try to argue that class members' rest periods are not duty free based on Fred Setayesh's single comment that security officers are not "relieved from all duties" during rest breaks. Importantly, Plaintiffs did not set forth Mr. Setayesh's subsequent explanatory testimony stating that guards simply must keep their radios or pagers on in case an emergency should arise to ensure the safety of the facility and its tenants. (Additional Fact 33, Setayesh Deposition, 77:3-78:15). (10JA 2914, 2915, emphasis added.)

ABM also denied that California law required it to relieve its guards of all duties during their rest breaks, claiming that would make it impossible to provide rest periods to guards who were working alone. (10JA 2916.) Those were the guards whom the DLSE had previously agreed to exempt from the Wage Order's rest break requirements. (10JA 2822.) ABM insisted that, even after that exemption expired, it was still permitted to

require employees at single-guard sites to interrupt their rest breaks and attend to "business demands." (10JA 2916.)

ABM also argued that because companies can require on-duty meal breaks, they must logically also be allowed to require on-duty rest breaks. (10JA 2916.) It noted that some employees who work alone—like gasstation attendants or baristas in coffee kiosks—take on-duty meal breaks because it is not practical to relieve them of all duties. (*Id.*) According to ABM, "It would naturally follow that these workers may take rest breaks that comply with the law even if it means they may occasionally be interrupted by a customer or other business demand." (*Id.*, emphasis added.)

In response to Plaintiffs' Undisputed Fact 1—that ABM guards were not relieved of all duty during rest breaks—ABM stated: "Disputed. ACSS' security officers do not work and are entitled to engage in leisure activities during meal and rest breaks." (10JA 2885). In support of this response ABM cited a new declaration from Setayesh and 20 declarations from ABM security guards. (10JA 2885-2886.)

ABM included certain "additional facts" in its response to the plaintiffs' separate statement, which included:

- 31. Plaintiffs Augustus and Davis were smokers and, like other guards, they took several smoke or rest breaks throughout their employment with ACSS.
- 32. Leisure activities, like reading a book and smoking, are clearly prohibited during work hours.
- 33. Guards simply must keep their radios or pagers on in case an emergency fire, flood, criminal activity, medical crisis or bomb threat should arise to ensure the safety of the facility and its tenants. (10JA 2901-2902, emphasis added.)

d. ABM concedes during oral argument that it keeps its guards on duty during breaks

During oral argument of the cross-motions, ABM's counsel admitted that California's rest-break rules required employees to be relieved of all duty. (3RT 4526:24-26.) He argued that ABM complied with that requirement because "[b]eing relieved of duty doesn't mean that you are relieved of the mere possibility that you can be called back." (3RT 4526:26-28.) ABM's counsel also argued that because employees can be required to perform job duties during on-duty meal breaks, they can be required to do the same thing during rest breaks. (3RT 4529:1-18.) "It's just a question of whether it has to be paid," he said. "Every rest period was paid for. There's no off the clock rest period." (*Id*.)

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