## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

#### JENNIFER AUGUSTUS, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

### ABM SECURITY SERVICES, INC.,

Defendant and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 3 1 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division One, Case Nos. B243788 & B247392

> The Superior Court of Los Angeles County, The Honorable John Shepard Wiley Jr. Case Nos. BC336416, BC345918, & CG5444421

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KEITH A. JACOBY (SBN 150233) DOMINIC J. MESSIHA (SBN 204544) LITTLER MENDELSON, P.C. 2049 Century Park East, 5th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067 Tel: (310) 553-0308

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY REVERSED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE ON-CALL REST BREAKS ARE NOT *PER SE* INVALID

The Court of Appeal correctly rejected the trial court's unprecedented conclusion that all on-call rest breaks are *per se* invalid as a matter of law. There is no prohibition of on-call rest breaks in the text of the relevant provisions of the Labor Code and wage order, and the history of these provisions conflicts with the trial court's conclusion that all on-call rest breaks are impermissible. The Court of Appeal also properly held that neither this Court's guidance regarding meal breaks in *Brinker*, nor cases such as *Mendiola* that address the circumstances under which time an employee spends is compensable "hours worked," provided any support for the trial court's and Plaintiffs' distorted view of the law. To the contrary, these cases demonstrate why the trial court's inflexible, *per se* rule against on-call breaks is not and cannot be the law.

# A. The Text and History of Wage Order No. 4 and Labor Code Section 226.7 Demonstrate That On-Call Rest Breaks Are Not *Per Se* Invalid

The parties agree that Wage Order No. 4-2001 governs Plaintiffs' claims. (ROB at p. 21.) Subdivision 12, which pertains to rest breaks, provides:

Every employer shall authorize and permit all employees to take rest periods, which insofar as practicable shall be in the middle of each work period. The authorized rest period time shall be based on the total hours worked daily at the rate of ten (10) minutes net rest time per four (4) hours or major fraction thereof. However, a rest period need not be authorized for employees whose total daily work time is less than three and one-half (3½) hours. Authorized rest period time shall be counted as hours worked for which there shall be no deduction from wages.

(Cal. Code Regs, tit. 8, § 11040, subd. (12)(A).)

The current text of subdivision 12 of Wage Order No. 4 has remained nearly unchanged since 1952, when the Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") adopted Wage Order No. 4-52. (See Aug. 28, 2015 Declaration of Theane Evangelis in Support of ABM's Motion for Judicial Notice ("Evangelis Decl."), Exh. C.) Significantly, when the IWC adopted the current language governing rest breaks in 1952, it "clarified that the Commission did not intend a completely off-duty rest period to be applicable in the case of an employee who is alone on a shift and has ample time to rest because of the nature of the work," such as "a night switchboard operator on a small board, a night hotel clerk, etc." (Evangelis Decl., Exh. D at p. 34.) "If employees in such positions are able to rest on the job," the IWC explained, "it is not intended that the employer provide a special relief employee." (*Ibid.*)

The scope of the rest break requirement remained virtually unchanged in the four decades that followed. In 1976, the IWC expanded

the definition of "employee" to include men (in addition to women and minors), and clarified that the ten minutes of rest must be "net"—i.e., exclusive of time in transit. (Evangelis Decl., Exh. F.) And in 2000, the IWC "added a provision to [subdivision 12] that requires an employer to pay an employee one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of pay for each work day that a rest period is not provided." (Evangelis Decl., Exh. E at p. 21.)

"At the same time that the IWC was adding the pay remedy, Assemblymember Darrell Steinberg introduced Assembly Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) (Bill No. 2509) to codify a pay remedy via proposed section 226.7." (Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1106 (Murphy).) The "stated purpose" of the bill, according to a report of the Assembly Committee on Labor and Employment, was to "strengthe[n] enforcement of existing wage and hour standards." (Evangelis Decl., Exh. A at p. 5.) Labor Code section 226.7 thus complemented the IWC's "[e]xisiting" regulatory framework by "mak[ing] any employer that requires any employee to work during a ... rest period [as] mandated by an order of the commission subject to a civil penalty[.]" (Evangelis Decl., Exh. B at p. 6.)

Section 226.7 provides that "[a]n employer shall not require an employee to work during a meal or rest or recovery period mandated pursuant to an applicable statute, or applicable regulation, standard, or order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board, or the Division of Occupational Safety and Health" and that "[i]f an employer fails to provide an employee a meal or rest or recovery period in accordance with a state law, including, but not limited to, an applicable statute or applicable regulation, standard, or order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health

Standards Board, or the Division of Occupational Safety and Health, the employer shall pay the employee one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each workday that the meal or rest or recovery period is not provided." (Lab. Code, § 226.7, subds. (b), (c).)

In sum, nothing in Wage Order No. 4 suggests that on-call rest breaks are legally invalid, as Plaintiffs here contend. To the contrary, the wage order is silent on the permissibility of such breaks. And its adoption history suggests that on-call breaks are entirely consistent with the purpose of rest breaks, as the IWC intended to create a flexible, industry- and jobspecific standard that is concerned with whether, as a practical matter, an employee is allowed to rest during the work day. (See Evangelis Decl., Exh. D at p. 34 [IWC "did not intend a completely off-duty rest period to be applicable in the case of an employee who is alone on a shift and has ample time to rest because of the nature of the work"]; cf. Brinker, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 1040 [noting that what "will suffice" to satisfy an employer's obligation to provide meal breaks "may vary from industry to industry"].) Further, section 226.7 by its terms only prohibits requiring an employee "to work" during a rest or meal break, and nothing in section 226.7's legislative history suggests that it was intended to expand an employer's obligations with regard to rest breaks or otherwise disturb the IWC's well-established regulatory scheme. (See Brinker, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 1037 ["we begin with the assumption the Legislature did not intend to upset existing rules, absent a clear expression of contrary intent"].)

### B. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held That the Mere Potential for Interruption Does Not Invalidate a Rest Break

The bulk of Plaintiffs' brief addresses a straw man: whether California law permits employers to provide "on-duty" rest breaks. The trial court's summary judgment ruling, however, was not premised on a finding that ABM provided its employees on-duty rest breaks. Rather, it was based on the erroneous legal conclusion that "if you are on call, you are not on break." (Augustus, supra, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 682.) According to the trial court, the mere possibility that an employee could be "hail[ed] ... back to work" during a rest break, whether by "cell phone, pager, fetching, hailing and so on," meant that all "on-call breaks are all legally invalid." (Ibid., italics added.) In other words, this case is not and has never been about whether California law permits on-duty, working rest breaks; it is about whether on-call rest breaks—i.e., breaks that could potentially be interrupted—are per se invalid under California law, as the trial court mistakenly believed. Because the Court of Appeal correctly rejected this reasoning, Plaintiffs now seek to equate being on call with being on duty, as if they are one and the same. They obviously are not.

As explained above, Labor Code section 226.7 supplies the only express guidance in either the Labor Code or the wage order regarding the nature of the rest breaks employers must provide, and it states that an "employer shall not require an employee to work" during a rest break. (Lab. Code, § 226.7, subd. (b), italics added.) The Court of Appeal concluded that the potential that "an on-call guard must return to duty if requested" does not render a rest break invalid under section 226.7, because "remaining available to work is not the same as performing work." (Augustus, supra, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 686.)

Contrary to Plaintiffs' assertion, the Court of Appeal's reasoning is entirely consistent with this Court's description of the rest break obligation in Murphy. First, Murphy noted that "being forced to forgo rest and meal periods denies employees time free from employer control that is often needed to be able to accomplish important personal tasks." (Murphy. supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1113; see ROB at pp. 2, 30-33.) But the mere potential that a break may be interrupted cannot, without more, constitute a degree of employer control that would preclude employees from engaging in "personal tasks." Indeed, the Court of Appeal found that guards on rest breaks were "permitted to engage and did engage in various non-work activities." (Augustus, supra, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 684.) Second, Murphy explained that if an employee is "denied two paid rest periods in an eighthour work day, an employee essentially performs 20 minutes of 'free' work, i.e., the employee receives the same amount of compensation for working through the rest periods that the employee would have received had he or she been permitted to take the rest periods." (Murphy, supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1104; see ROB at p. 28.) But the Court of Appeal did not in Rather, consistent with any respect endorse "working" rest breaks. Murphy, the Court of Appeal clearly held that section 226.7 prohibits employers from requiring employees "to work" during rest breaks. (*Augustus*, *supra*, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 684–685.)

Nor does the Court of Appeal's reasoning conflict with other Court of Appeal decisions, as Plaintiffs wrongly contend. (See ROB at p. 25.) Neither Faulkinbury v. Boyd & Associates, Inc. (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 220 (Faulkinbury) nor Bufil v. Dollar Financial Group, Inc. (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 1193 (Bufil) addressed whether an on-call requirement by itself renders a rest break per se invalid; rather, both cases addressed the propriety of class certification where evidence showed that the employers

did not provide rest breaks. (See Faulkinbury, 216 Cal.App.4th at p. 236 [employer "had no formal rest break policy" and employees claimed they were told "there are no breaks" and that they were "required to remain at their posts and were not provided with relief to take rest breaks"]; Bufil, 162 Cal.App.4th at p. 1206 [employees "were not authorized to lock the store, ignore customers, quit monitoring traffic, etc., in order to be off duty for a rest period of 10 consecutive minutes"].) Godfrey v. Oakland Port Services Corp. (2014) 230 Cal. App.4th 1267 likewise bears no resemblance to this case. There, truck drivers were "encouraged ... not to take, or [were] prevented ... from taking, rest breaks"; the employer "provided no evidence of any formal policy on rest breaks"; there was "no indication drivers were, at a minimum, informed in any meaningful or consistent way that they could take rest breaks, or the definition of any such rest breaks"; and drivers "counted time in [a] truck, waiting in line at the Port ... as break time." (Id. at pp. 1286-1287 & fn. 21.) By contrast, ABM's written rest break policies informed guards that they were "authorize[d] and permit[ed]" to take rest breaks "as required by California law" (9JA2418; see also 3JA628), and "substantial and uncontroverted evidence, including the deposition testimony of the named plaintiffs themselves," showed "that class members regularly took uninterrupted rest breaks during which they performed no work." (Augustus, supra, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 681-682.)

In fact, Plaintiffs have not identified a single case, from any jurisdiction, holding that the mere fact that a break could potentially be interrupted renders it *per se* invalid or tantamount to an "on-duty" break. And those courts that have considered this theory of liability have uniformly rejected it. (See *Temple v. Guardsmark LLC* (N.D.Cal., Feb. 22, 2011, No. C 09-02124 SI) 2011 WL 723611, at p. \*6 [an "on call' rest period is acceptable" under California law, such that guards who

infrequently "needed to respond in case of emergency," and in that event "would receive another uninterrupted rest period," received valid breaks]; White v. Salvation Army (Wash.Ct.App. 2003) 75 P.3d 990, 995 [although Washington State's rest break statute required "relief from work or exertion" during breaks, employers could keep employees on call during rest periods to respond to telephone calls and customer needs].)

Plaintiffs' position boils down to the radical proposition that California law requires an employer to categorically prohibit its employees from ever being recalled to work while they are on rest breaks, regardless of the exigency, if it is to satisfy its obligation to provide work-free rest breaks. Nothing in law or logic supports imposing such an impractical and onerous requirement on California's employers.

# C. Plaintiffs' Arguments Based on a Supposed "Overlap" Between Time Spent on Rest Breaks and Working Time Are Legally and Factually Meritless

As they did below, Plaintiffs assert that ABM never provided a valid rest break because, in their view, the time guards spent on rest breaks was "indistinguishable from any other part of the guard's workday." (Augustus, supra, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 685; see also ROB at p. 38 ["Given the overlap between what ABM guards did while they were on duty and what they were required to do during their rest breaks, there can be no dispute that they were never relieved of all duties during their rest breaks. Accordingly, their rest breaks violated section 226.7"].) The Court of Appeal correctly deemed this contention to be "without merit" for two reasons. (Augustus, supra, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 686.)

First, the Court of Appeal reasoned that nothing in section 226.7 "require[d] that a rest period be distinguishable from the remainder of the workday." (*Augustus*, *supra*, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 686.) Rather, section

226.7 "requires only that an employee not be required 'to work' during breaks," and thus "[e]ven if an employee did nothing but remain on call all day, being equally idle on a rest break does not constitute working." (*Ibid.*) Any contrary conclusion would be untenable and unworkable, as it would make it impossible to provide rest breaks to any employees whose job duties consist of remaining idle. (See *Armour & Co. v. Wantock* (1944) 323 U.S. 126, 133 [recognizing that "an employer, if he chooses, may hire a man to do nothing"].) Indeed, such a rule would violate the IWC's intention *not* to require "a completely off-duty rest period ... in the case of an employee who is alone on a shift and has ample time to rest because of the nature of the work," such as "a night switchboard operator on a small board, a night hotel clerk, etc." (Evangelis Decl., Exh. D at p. 34.)

Second, as a factual matter, the Court of Appeal found that, at ABM, "a security guard who is on call performs few if any of the activities performed by one who is actively on duty." (Augustus, supra, 182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 686.) The Court of Appeal explained that while "a guard on duty must observe the guarded campus and perform many tasks, for example, greeting visitors, raising or lowering the campus's flags, or monitoring traffic or parking," there was "[n]o evidence in the record [that] suggests an ABM guard taking a rest break is required to do any of these things." (Ibid., italics added.) Rather, "class members regularly took uninterrupted rest breaks," and during these rest breaks guards were "permitted to engage and did engage in various non-work activities." (Id. at pp. 681-682, 684-685.) The court further noted that while Plaintiffs had "fail[ed] to provide any example of a rest break actually having been interrupted," ABM had "submitted affirmative evidence that any rest period interrupted by a call back to service could be restarted after the situation necessitating the callback was resolved." (Id. at p 682.)

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